No. 21-CV-240<sup>1</sup>



---

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

---

Clerk of the Court  
Received 10/27/2021 02:12 PM  
Filed 11/04/2021 07:58 AM

RITA L. YATES

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

EUGENE KENNETH ALLEN, JR., ET AL.,

Defendants-Appellees.

---

On Appeal from the  
Superior Court of the District of Columbia – Probate Division

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

*/s/ Emily P. Grim*

---

Emily P. Grim (D.C. Bar No. 1006597)  
Rachel H. Jennings\* (D.C. Bar No. 241370)  
Brandon A. Levey (D.C. Bar No.  
888314549)  
Gilbert LLP  
700 Pennsylvania Avenue, SE  
Suite 400  
Washington, DC 20003  
Telephone: (202) 772-2200

---

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Is a court permitted to effectively add a required element to adverse possession claims that would change ownership of property that precludes claimants from filing a claim if a court has previously made any ownership determination, regardless of any other circumstances? As a corollary, are claimants precluded, as a matter of law, from ever raising an adverse possession claim merely because a court has previously determined legal ownership of the property, where no court has ever considered a claim of adverse possession of that same property?
2. Does res judicata bar the court from considering Ms. Rita L. Yates's ("Ms. Yates" or "Appellant") adverse possession claim of the real property located at 1528 A Street NE, Washington, DC 20002 (the "Property"), where the record does not reflect that the lower court reviewed any facts concerning Ms. Yates's claim for Adverse Possession?
3. Did Ms. Yates adversely possess the Property in question where her mother, Ms. Rita E. Yates, lived at the Property for decades as her primary residence with no other putative owners asserting any claim to the Property, solely paying the mortgage, taxes, and for upkeep and significant remodeling of the Property, with any Property rental proceeds going to her alone, and then passed the interest solely to her daughter, Ms. Yates, in fee simple absolute,

with Ms. Yates living there continuously in the years since and continuing to have the financial responsibility to maintain the Property?

4. Did the Superior Court err in ordering the sale of the Property where Ms. Yates's adverse possession claim was improperly dismissed and where, if successful, such claim would preclude any court-ordered sale?

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Without this Court's relief, Ms. Yates faces the imminent sale and resulting loss of the home she has lived in for decades, and her mother and grandmother before her. This appeal reaches the Court after more than a decade of litigation over the Yates family home that crosses several separate cases in different sections of the D.C. Superior Court between, on the one hand, Ms. Rita E. Yates and Ms. Yates and, on the other, Brian Gormley as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lydia Yates, and Delores Yates as Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank Yates (collectively, "Appellees," and together with Ms. Yates, the "Parties").<sup>2</sup> Despite the tortured history of the dispute over the ownership of this Property, to resolve the issues on appeal, this Court need only focus on the lower court's 2016 determination of ownership rights in the Property; the most recent proceedings in

---

<sup>2</sup> In addition to the cases consolidated on appeal, the Parties are involved in a tax foreclosure case involving the Property. *See Estafinos v. Yates*, No. 2018-CA-005991 L(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct.).

the Superior Court; and a limited set of facts and other legal decisions related to the possession of the Property by Ms. Rita E. Yates and Ms. Yates.<sup>3</sup>

Collectively, Ms. Yates and her mother, Ms. Rita E. Yates, have lived in the Property, without interruption, since 1955. *See* Verified Claim for Adverse Possession at Appx.021–Appx.022, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 00738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Jan. 31, 2020) (the “**Original Adverse Possession Complaint**”). Ms. Rita E. Yates lived in the Property from 1955 until her death in 2013. *See id.* at Appx.021–Appx.024. On September 14, 1955, Ms. Rita E. Yates was deeded one half interest in the Property as a tenant in common with her brother, Frank Yates, Jr., and his wife at the time, Anabelle Yates, while they all lived in the Property along with the co-owners of the other one-half interest that would eventually be transferred to the Estate of Lydia Yates. *Id.*; 2016 Ownership Order at Appx.002.<sup>4</sup> Mr. Yates, Jr. and Ms. Anabelle Yates moved from the Property on or about October 27, 1969. Original Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.022. When

---

<sup>3</sup> For detailed accounts of the history of the ownership of the Property and additional procedural history, *see* Order, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 21, 2016) (“**2016 Ownership Order**”) (Appx.001); Order Granting Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss, *Yates v. Allen*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Mar. 15, 2021) (“**Order Dismissing the Adverse Possession Claim**”) (Appx.214).

<sup>4</sup> In her Original Adverse Possession Complaint, Ms. Yates asserted that she held one-half interest in the Property as a tenant in common with her brother, Mr. Yates, Jr., but did not mention any ownership rights of Ms. Anabelle Yates, his wife. On information and belief, Ms. Yates does not contest that Ms. Anabelle Yates was also a tenant in common in 1955.

Ms. Lydia Yates died intestate on June 20, 1982, Ms. Rita E. Yates, as her daughter and title holder of her estate, claimed the Property to be 100 percent hers. *Id.*; *see also id.* at Appx.026 (After Ms. Lydia Yates’s death, “Rita E. Yates, who lived in the [Property] proclaimed the house to be exclusively hers through statements and actions.”). No member of the family, including Mr. Yates, Jr. or any other heir of Ms. Lydia Yates, had ever made any claim to the Property prior to the initiation of the probate action in 2009—one of the matters underlying this appeal.<sup>5</sup>

Moreover, since at least 1982, Ms. Rita E. Yates and Ms. Yates have been the sole payors of all costs associated with the home, and the collector of all rents received. *See* Original Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.022, Appx.023, Appx.025, Appx.027. The Property was subject to a mortgage from 1955 until May 16, 2007, which included additional financing added to the mortgage in 1964 and the final refinance mortgage in 1972. *Id.* at Appx.023. Ms. Yates had understood that one of these refinances was used to buy out Mr. Yates, Jr.’s interest in the Property. *Id.* Regardless of the reason for the refinance, after 1982 when Ms. Rita E. Yates claimed full ownership of the Property, she and Ms. Yates

---

<sup>5</sup> Mr. Yates, Jr. also filed a Complaint for Real Property on October 14, 2008 that appears to have also been a partition action of the Property. *See* Docket, *Yates v. Yates*, No. 2008 CA 007271 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct.). That matter was dismissed on November 25, 2008 for failure to join necessary parties. *Id.*; *see also* Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.024.

exclusively paid the mortgage payments, property taxes, and utility bills. *Id.* at Appx.022–Appx.023. In addition, Ms. Rita E. Yates made significant improvements to the Property, including roof repairs and plaster repairs. *Id.* She also modified her home to be wheelchair accessible for her daughter Ms. Sheila Yates, to provide for her disability, including building a wheelchair ramp and an accessible bathroom, and lowering cabinets and faucets. *Id.* Ms. Rita E. Yates also collected the full amount of rent from her sister during the time she was permitted to rent a room. *Id.* at Appx.023.

Ms. Yates lived in this home as a child, and moved back in 1997 with her son. She has remained there ever since. *Id.* at Appx.022–Appx.023. Ms. Yates returned to help her aging mother care for her sister Ms. Sheila Yates, who had a serious disability. *Id.* at Appx.023. After Ms. Sheila Yates died in 2007, Ms. Yates remained to take care of her mother, Ms. Rita E. Yates, whose health was declining. *Id.* In 2007, Ms. Rita E. Yates also executed her Last Will and Testament, which stated “I give and devise my interest in 1528 A Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20002, to my daughter, Rita Lydia Yates, in fee simple absolute. . . . I have chosen to leave my interest to her so that she may continue residing at [the Property].” *Id.* at Appx.023–Appx.024.

Despite Ms. Rita E. Yates’s assertions that she held 100 percent ownership in the Property since 1982, within a year of paying off the mortgage on the

Property and devising it to Ms. Yates in her Will, Mr. Frank Yates, Jr. resurfaced and filed a partition action in the court pursuant to D.C. Code § 16-2901 (providing that “[t]he Superior Court . . . may decree a partition of lands, tenements, or hereditaments on the complaint of a tenant in common”). *Id.* at Appx.024; *see also* D.C. Code § 16-2901(a) (When a “property can not be divided without loss or injury to the parties interested, the court may decree a sale thereof and a division of the money arising from the sale among the parties, according to their respective rights.”). Notably, Mr. Yates, Jr.’s initial claims were based on an interest he believed he had through the Estate of Lydia Yates (his mother), who owned one-half interest in the Property prior to her death; he did *not* assert that his own previous interest in the Property remained. *See* Original Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.024. Indeed, had the refinancing been used to buy out his interest, as Ms. Yates has understood, he had no legal claim to the one-half interest he initially shared as a tenant-in-common with Ms. Rita E. Yates and Ms. Anabelle Yates. *Id.* at Appx.021, Appx.023; 2016 Ownership Order at Appx.002. When Mr. Yates, Jr. discovered that his name was still on the legal title to the Property, he asserted his own interests in the Property. Original Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.024.

On August 24, 2013, during the pendency of the litigation over the probate matters and related ownership questions of the Property, Ms. Rita E. Yates died,



and her 2007 Will went through probate court. *Id.* Ms. Yates was named the Personal Representative of her Estate, and on February 5, 2014, she deeded the Property to herself. *Id.* at Appx.025. Since that time, Ms. Yates has continued to live in and pay for all matters involving her home. *Id.*

Since Mr. Yates, Jr. first filed a complaint regarding the Property in 2008, and especially since Ms. Rita E. Yates died in 2013, Ms. Yates has been facing continuous legal battles regarding ownership of a home that she thought her mother and now her have exclusively owned since 1982. Ms. Yates is not a lawyer, and despite many attempts to find appropriate legal representation, Ms. Yates has often appeared in court to maintain her housing without any assistance or any knowledge of the relevant law. She retained undersigned counsel in May, and has consolidated all claims involving ownership of the Property into this appeal, so that the Court may consider all claims together properly.

### **PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

1. On May 14, 2009, Mr. Yates, Jr., as Personal Representative for the Estate of Lydia L. Yates, sought partition of the Property. 2016 Ownership Order at Appx.003 (citing Answer and Counterclaim, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. May 14, 2009)); Original Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.024. On August 13, 2010, this Counterclaim was dismissed for failure to join necessary parties. 2016 Ownership Order at Appx.003.

2. On August 24, 2013, Rita E. Yates died and the court appointed Ms. Yates as Personal Representative of the Estate of Rita E. Yates. *In re Estate of Rita E. Yates*, No. 2013 ADM 001223. On February 5, 2014, Ms. Yates, acting as Personal Representative for the Estate of Rita E. Yates, deeded the Property to herself. Original Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.025.

3. On September 16, 2014, the Superior Court granted Mr. Yates, Jr.'s Motion to Reopen the Counterclaim. *See* 2016 Ownership Order at Appx.003.

4. On April 21, 2016, after a two-day trial and unsuccessful mediation, the Superior Court issued an Order ruling that during her lifetime, Decedent Rita E. Yates held an ownership interest in the Property as tenants in common with Frank Yates, Jr. (her brother), Anabelle Yates (Frank Yates, Jr.'s wife until 1992), and the Estate of Lydia Yates. 2016 Ownership Order at Appx.011. The court determined that the Estate of Lydia Yates owns a 50 percent interest in the Property, and that Frank G. Yates, Jr., Anabelle Yates, and the Estate of Rita E. Yates share the remaining 50 percent as tenants in common. *Id.*

5. On October 18, 2016, Mr. Yates, Jr. Renewed a Motion to sell the Property, and asserted that all parties had conceded to the sale. Docket, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct.).

6. On December 18, 2016, during a hearing, the Superior Court granted Mr. Yates, Jr.'s Renewed Motion to sell the Property. Attorney Kellee G. Baker

entered an appearance representing Ms. Yates in this probate matter the same day. *Id.* Despite the Superior Court's Order, Ms. Yates remained in possession of the Property and it was not sold. Order Granting Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss at Appx.216, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Mar. 15, 2021) ("**Order Dismissing Adverse Possession Claim**").

7. On July 3, 2018, Mr. Yates, Jr. died, and Ms. Delores Yates was appointed as the Personal Representative of his estate. *Id.*

8. On January 31, 2020, Ms. Yates filed a *pro se* Complaint for Adverse Possession, asserting that her mother, Ms. Rita E. Yates, obtained a 100 percent ownership interest in the Property under the doctrine of adverse possession, which Ms. Yates has maintained as the successor in interest to the Property. Original Adverse Possession Complaint at Appx.016.

9. On June 17, 2020, the court approved Ms. Delores Yates's petition to appoint Mr. Gormley as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lydia Yates. Motion for Reconsideration of Court's Order Dated October 21, 2020 Denying Motions to (I) Surcharge Property Interest of Rita L. Yates and (II) Appoint Trustee and Compel Sale for Possession of Real Property and for Contempt of Court at Appx.090, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Oct. 27, 2020) ("**2020 Motion for Reconsideration of Sale of Property**").

10. On July 20, 2020, Mr. Gormley and Ms. Delores Yates (as Personal Representatives of the Estate of Lydia Yates and the Estate of Frank Yates, Jr., respectively) filed an Emergency Motion to Compel the Sale of the Property, which the Superior Court denied on October 21, 2020. Emergency Motion to Appoint Trustee and Compel Sale, For Possession of Real Property and For Contempt of Court, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. July 20, 2020) (Appx.069); Order, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Oct. 21, 2020) (Appx.081). On October 27, 2020, Mr. Gormley and Ms. Delores Yates filed a Motion for Reconsideration of that denial. Motion for Reconsideration of Court's Order Dated October 21, 2020 Denying Motions to (I) Surcharge Property Interest of Rita L. Yates and (II) Appoint Trustee and Compel Sale for Possession of Real Property and for Contempt of Court, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Oct. 27, 2020) (Appx.089).

11. On November 19, 2020, Ms. Yates filed an Emergency Motion to Stay Sale of Property Pending her January 2020 Adverse Possession Claim. Emergency Motion to Stay Sale of Property Pending Adverse Possession Claim, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Nov. 19, 2020) (“**2020 Emergency Motion to Stay Sale of the Property**”) (Appx.106).

12. On December 2, 2020, Mr. Yates, Jr. and Ms. Delores Yates filed an Opposition to the 2020 Emergency Motion to Stay Sale of the Property.

Opposition to Emergency Motion to Stay Sale of Property Pending Adverse Possession Claim, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Dec. 2, 2020) (“**Opposition to 2020 Emergency Motion to Stay Sale**”) (Appx.130).

13. On January 11, 2021, the Superior Court Denied a Motion to Dismiss the Original Adverse Possession Complaint on the basis that the Motion was incorrectly filed under the probate matter, rather than under the civil matter, where the Original Adverse Possession Complaint was pending, and instructed the movants to re-file the Motion to Dismiss in the civil matter. Order Denying Motion to Consolidate and Dismiss Complaint For Adverse Possession as Moot, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Jan. 11, 2021) (Appx.148).

14. On January 12, 2021, Mr. Gormley and Ms. Delores Yates filed a Motion to Dismiss the Original Adverse Possession Complaint. Motion to Dismiss Complaint for Adverse Possession, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Jan. 12, 2021) (“**Motion to Dismiss the Original Adverse Possession Complaint**”) (Appx.153).

15. On January 29, 2021, the Superior Court held a scheduling conference, at which Ms. Baker appeared on behalf of Ms. Yates, without having entered an appearance. Because the Estate of Lydia Yates had recently entered probate, which had the effect of replacing many named defendants with the Estate

of Lydia Yates, the Superior Court directed Ms. Yates to file an Amended Complaint for Adverse Possession naming the correct Defendants. Mr. Gormley withdrew the Motion to Dismiss the Original Adverse Possession Complaint. Order Directing Plaintiff to File an Amended Complaint and Setting a Status Hearing at Appx.181–Appx.182, *Yates v. Allen*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Feb. 1, 2021).

16. On February 5, 2021, Ms. Yates filed an Amended Complaint for Adverse Possession. First Amended Claim for Adverse Possession, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Feb. 5, 2021) (“**Adverse Possession Complaint**”) (Appx.189).

17. On February 11, 2021, Mr. Gormley and Ms. Delores Yates filed a Motion to Dismiss the Adverse Possession Complaint. Motion to Dismiss Complaint for Adverse Possession, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Feb. 11, 2021) (“**Motion to Dismiss Adverse Possession Complaint**”) (Appx.199).

18. On March 15, 2021, the D.C. Superior Court granted the Motion to Dismiss Ms. Yates’s Complaint for Adverse Possession and dismissed the case. The Superior Court dismissed on procedural grounds, ruling that Ms. Yates’s “filing . . . is procedurally deficient” and that “Plaintiff’s claim is barred by res

judicata.” Order Dismissing the Adverse Possession Claim at Appx.217; Appx.223.

19. Four days later, on March 19, 2021, the Court issued an Order of Sale which, *inter alia*, dismissed Ms. Yates’s 2020 Emergency Motion to Stay Sale of the Property as moot on the basis of its dismissal of the adverse possession claim, and ordered the Property be listed for sale within two weeks. Omnibus Order at Appx.237–Appx.238, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Mar. 19, 2021) (“**2021 Order of Sale of the Property**”).

20. On April 7, 2021, Mr. Gormley and Ms. Delores Yates filed a Motion to Appoint a Trustee to execute the 2021 Order of Sale of the Property. Motion to Appoint Trustee for Possession of Real Property, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 7, 2021) (“**Motion to Appoint a Trustee**”) (Appx.243).

21. On April 12, 2021, Ms. Yates filed a Motion asking the Superior Court to reconsider its dismissal of the Adverse Possession Complaint. Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 12, 2021) (“**Motion for Reconsideration of the Adverse Possession Claim**”) (Appx.252); *see also* Motion to Extend Time to File Notice of Appeal at Appx.352, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super.

Ct. June 21, 2021) (“**Motion to Extend Time to File Notice of Appeal of Denial of Reconsideration of Adverse Possession Claim**”).

22. On April 13, 2021, amidst the confusion and concern created when Ms. Yates’s Motion for Reconsideration of Adverse Possession Claim was rejected, and before the Superior Court accepted the re-submission of the Motion, Ms. Yates filed a Notice of Appeal of the Superior Court’s Order Granting Appellee’s Motion to Dismiss. Notice of Appeal, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(RP) (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 13, 2021) (“**Adverse Possession Appeal**”) (Appx.264). In effect, Ms. Yates simultaneously sought review of the Superior Court’s Order Dismissing the Adverse Possession Claim in both the Superior Court and this Court.

23. On April 18, 2021, Ms. Yates appealed the Superior Court’s March 19, 2021 Order of Sale. Notice of Appeal, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 18, 2021) (“**2021 Order of Sale of the Property Appeal**”) (Appx.266).

24. On April 21, 2021, Ms. Yates filed an Opposition to the Motion to Appoint a Trustee. Opposition to Motion for Appointment of Trustee and Opposition to Motion for Immediate Possession, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 21, 2021) (“**Opposition to Motion to Appoint Trustee**”) (Appx.268).



25. On April 28, 2021, the Superior Court denied Ms. Yates’s Motion for Reconsideration of Adverse Possession Claim. Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 2020 CA 000738 R(P) (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 28, 2021) (“**Denial of the Motion for Reconsideration of the Adverse Possession Claim**”) (Appx.274).

26. On May 3, 2021, the Superior Court issued an Order Appointing a Trustee to sell the Property, and prescribed a limited set of requirements for the sale process. Order Appointing Trustee, *Yates v. Yates, Jr.*, No. 2009 LIT 000001 (D.C. Super. Ct. May 3, 2021) (“**Order Appointing Trustee**”) (Appx.279).

27. On May 21, 2021, the D.C. Court of Appeals *sua sponte* issued an Order holding the Adverse Possession Appeal in abeyance pursuant to D.C. App. R. 4(a)(4)(iv), stating that it “appear[ed] that one or more timely post-trial tolling motions are pending in Superior Court,” presumably referring to the Motion for Reconsideration of the Adverse Possession Claim. Order at Appx.286, *Yates v. Allen, Jr.*, No. 21-CV-240 (D.C. May 21, 2021) (“**Order Staying Appeal of 2021 Order of Sale of Property**”).

28. The Trustee held open houses for the Property on May 22 and 23, 2021, and closed bidding on the Property on May 25, 2021. Counsel’s understanding is that the Trustee has deferred accepting a bid, although the Trustee

is currently under no court order to do so and may, in theory, contract with a bidding party for the sale of the Property at any time.

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