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

### VI. MS. RITA E. YATES DID NOT OBTAIN THE PROPERTY IN QUESTION THROUGH ADVERSE POSSESSION, AND IF SO, WAS SHE ABLE TO PASS THE PROPERTY IN FEE SIMPLE TO THE APPELLANT?

"To establish title by adverse possession, [an individual] must demonstrate possession of the land that is 'actual, open and notorious, exclusive, continuous, and hostile,' throughout a period of fifteen years." Sears v. Catholic Archdiocese, 5 A.3d 653, 658 (D.C. 2010) (quoting Smith v. Tippett, 569 A.2d 1186, 1190 (D.C. 1990); see also D.C. Code§ 12-301 (establishing that the time limit for bringing an action "for the recovery of lands, tenements, or hereditaments" is 15 years). When Rita E. Yates lived in the property in question it was not hostile. The property was the home first came into the Yates family when it was conveyed to Lydia Yates and her husband Frank Yates and their children Rita E. Yates and Frank Yates, Jr. and Annabelle Yates, Frank Yates, Jr.'s then wife (parents of Appellee Angelo Yates). Frank Yates predeceased Lydia Yates. For years various family members lived in the home, during and after the death of both Lydia Yates. The home was looked at as the family home. The Appellee's and Rita E. Yates' mother Lydia Yates lived in the home until she passed away. While Appellant claims that no family member including frank Yates, Jr. ever made any claim to the Property prior to 2009 when Frank Yates, Jr. file a Petition to Probate Lydia Yates estate. In fact, at no time prior 2009 did Rita E. Yates give hint that she felt she owned the Property exclusive of any right to any of the other owners and this was in response to Frank Yates Jr, filing the Petition to probate Lydia Yates' estate. Furthermore, because of the requirement that the taking of property by adverse possession has to be hostile, the onus to make it clear that there is such is on the person making the claim. The rightful owners have no obligation to make their ownership rights apparent, especially when they are not on notice that there is such an attempt to make a claim of ownership

exclusive of their rights being made. Moreover, there is a presumption that a person occupying the land of another does so with the latter's consent and, accordingly, "adversity must be established by clear and convincing evidence." Smith, 569 A.2d at 1190. There is a presumption "that possession is adverse when there is open and continuous use of another's land for the statutory period, and this presumption is effective to establish title in the absence of evidence to the contrary." Id "Exclusive' possession, for the purpose of establishing adversity, means that the claimant holds possession of the property for himself as his own and not for another." 5 R. POWELL, THE LAW OF REAL PROPERTY§ 1013 (2) at 91-19 (Rev. ed. 1989). Rita E. Yates was a partial owner of the property in question. Consequently, she had a right to possess it. However, nothing in her behavior would lead any of the other owners to conclude that that possession was hostile. "'Hostile' possession has been defined as possession that is opposed and antagonistic to all other claims, and which conveys the clear message that the possessor intends to [solely] possess the land as his own." 7 POWELL, supra, § 1013 (2) at 91-17. Because Rita E. Yates was the sister of Frank Yates Jr. and the Property was the "family home" owned by him, her, his then wife, Annabelle, Rita E. Yates and the heirs of their mother Lydia Yates' (some of whom had lived in the house from time to time) Frank Yates, Jr. had no reason to believe that Rita E. Yates somehow believed to be the sole owner of the property.

Appellant argue that she and her other Rita E. Yates have been the sole payors of all costs associated with the home and the collector of all rents received since 1982 shows that Rita E. Yates solely owned the property. However, since they were the ones who were living in the home and thus reaping the benefits from it, the payments were mere compensation for such

benefits. It could not reasonably be expected that other owners not living in the property would be required to pay for the home that Appellant's and her mother were living in and they were not. This by no means meant they were giving up their ownership in the home.

The Appellant further alleges that the home was refinanced in 1964 and 1972 and she "had understood" that one of these refinances was used to buy out Frank Yates, Jr. This is mere unfounded speculation on the Appellant's part and there are no documents to back up such a claim. The Statute of Frauds dictate the transfer of an interest in real property must be in writing signed by the party against whom the contract is being enforced. No such writing exists.

Appellant's claim of such a transfer is self-serving and unenforceable.

To establish continuous possession of land for 15 years, a party may "tack" the time that she personally spent on the land to that of her predecessors. "Tacking consists of successive, uninterrupted possession by persons between whom privity exists." *Bonds v. Smith*, 143 F.2d 369, 370 (D.C. 1944); see also, Tacking, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (Tacking is defined as "[t]he joining of consecutive periods of possession by different persons to treat the periods as one continuous period .... "). "If such tacked possessions constitute one continuous adverse possession for the statutory period it will be sufficient." *Bonds*, 143 F.2d at 3 70-71 (emphasizing that "[i]t is possession not title which is vital" in determining whether a putative adverse possessor has held the land long enough). Even so, as noted in *Gore v. Hall*: It is unquestionable that where different persons enter upon land in succession without any privity of estate, the last possessor is not allowed to tack the possession of his predecessors to his own, so as to make out a continuity of possession sufficient to bar the entry of the owner ... " because "the moment the first occupant quits possession, the constructive possession of the owner is

restored[.] *Gore v. Hall*, 112 A.2d 675, 678 (Md. 1955). In this case other family member, heirs lived in the house. The Appellant notes her sister (who is an heir through Lydia Yates) lived for a period of time in the home. This would have prevented any sole continuous hostile possession of the Property had any existed, which we contend did not. Again, it is of no moment that the sister paid Rita E. Yates rent. Because she allegedly was paying the mortgage it is understandable that any rent paid by any heir who lived in the home would be paid to the person paying the mortgage. In addition, Sheila Yates who also would have been an heir via Rita E. Yates and her grandmother Lydia Yates lived in the property. Sheila Yates (Frank Yates Jr's niece) who had a serious disability lived in the house and did not die until 2007. This would better explain why Frank Yates, Jr. did not file the Petition to Probate his mother Lydia's estate until 2008. This was the family home. His niece who was disabled lived in it. He at no time gave up his ownership right in it and after his disabled niece died, he filed to probate his mother's estate so that the house could be sold, and the proceeds could be divided between the rightful owners.

Because Rita E. Yates never obtained the property by adverse possession, she could not convey it to the Appellant. Even if Appellant had a valid claim of Adverse Possession of the Property in question, as pointed out above, she would be collaterally estopped from making such a claim because when the issue of ownership of the Property had already been litigated four years prior to her making any such claim.

VII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING MS. RITA L. YATES'
MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF HER COMPLAINT FOR ADVERSE POSSESSION OR HER MOTION TO EXTEND TIME TO FILE A
NOTICE OF APPEAL OF THE DENIAL OF HER MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF HER COMPLAINT FOR ADVERSE POSSESSION.

The Court did not err in denying the Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration of her

Complaint for Adverse Possession or her Motion to Extend Time to File a Notice of Appeal of her Motion for Reconsideration of her Complaint for Adverse Possession. From 2008 through 2015 the Appellant and the Frank Yates, Jr. and Roland Yates were involved in multiple legal battle over the ownership of the Property in question. There were Complaints, Counterclaims for sale of the Property, Motions for Partition of Property, voluntary and involuntary dismissals of claims filed and the parties participated in unsuccessful mediation to settle ownership of the property. On October 18, 2016 a Renewed Motion to Sell was filed. On December 13, 2016 Judge Erik Christian ordered the parties to come up with a listed agreement, that Property be listed for sell and the Property be made available for showing each week until the property was sold. There was no appeal of that decision. Despite the order the Appellant did not list or show the property. Instead, four years later she filed a Complaint for Adverse Possession. Frank Yates, Jr. and Roland Yates filed a Motion to Dismiss the Adverse Possession Complaint. The Appellant never responded to the Motion to Dismiss and her Complaint for Adverse Possession was dismissed. It is in the trial Court's sound discretion whether to enlarge time to file a responsive pleading or a motion to reconsideration. In this case the Appellant failed to file a responsive pleading to the Motion to dismiss by the February 25, 2021 date. The Court went a step further and sent an email on February 26, 2021 to Appellant's attorney asking if she were going to be filing a response. Appellant's attorney did not respond to the email. On March 10, 2021, Appellant filed a Motion to File Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Out of Time but failed to allege that she had sought consent from the Defendants, which is required by the Court's Rules and the Civil Division's General Order. Judge Albert Irving noted filing, that the filing was procedurally deficient. Nevertheless, he addressed the merits and on March 15, 2021, issued an

order granting PR for Estate of Lydia Yates' and PR for Estate of Frank Yates, Jr's Motion to Dismiss the Complaint for Adverse Possession. In April 2021 Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider the Adverse Possession Complaint and a Motion to Extend Time to File Notice of Appeal Denial of Reconsideration which was also denied. The Court gave the Appellant ample time to file an opposition to the Motion to Dismiss her Adverse Possession Complaint and the Appellant failed to timely do so.

While D.C. Sup. Ct. Rule 6(b)(1) authorizes the Court at its discretion to extend time for filings for good cause or for excusable neglect, there was no good cause given in this case nor any excusable neglect claimed. The Supreme Court has held that the phrase "excusable neglect" permits a court, "where appropriate, to accept late filings caused by inadvertence, mistake, or carelessness, as well as by intervening circumstances beyond the party's control." *Pioneer Inv.* Servs. Co., at 388, 113 S.Ct. 1489, 123 L.Ed.2d 74 (1993). Determining whether a party's neglect is excusable "is at bottom an equitable one, taking [into] account . . . all relevant circumstances surrounding the party's omission." *Id.* at 395, 113 S.Ct. 1489. The factors a court considers include "the danger of prejudice [to other parties], the length of the delay and its potential impact on judicial proceedings, the reason for the delay, including whether it was within the reasonable control of the movant, and whether the movant acted in good faith." In this case the facts support the Court's decision not to allow the extension. The Court went over and beyond what was necessary by sending an email out to Appellant's counsel asking if she would be filing a response to the Motion to Dismiss after the response was due and then the court still did not rule on the motion until nearly two week later. Moreover, the subject of the dismissal was something that had been litigated four years prior. Clearly, the court did not abuse its

discretion in denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider the Dismissal.

Even if it were determined that the Court abused its discretion in denying the Appellant's Motion to Reconsider or her Motion to Extend Time to File Appeal of the Dismissal of her Adverse Possession complaint, it would be harmless error. The Court determined the dismissal of the complaint based on the merits and was justified in its finding.

### VIII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ORDERING THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY IN QUESTION.

The trial Court determined that the Appellant did not obtain the property via adverse possession and determined that Judge Erik Christian outlined the proper division of the Property to be 50% to the Estate of Lydia Yates, 16.66% to Frank Yates, Jr. 16.66% Annabelle Yates, and 16.66% to the Estate of Rita E. Yates. The parties have been unable to reach a settlement regarding division and no party was able or willing to buy the other party(ies) out. The Property is subject to a tax sale which the longer the property is not sold only decreases the value of each parties interest in it. The Appellant has purposely prolonged the process of division of the property in question, depriving the other owners of their proper entitled benefits from its sale and the filing of yet another claim of ownership of the property is just another delay tactic, as is this appeal. Judge Irving recognized the Appellant's purposeful frustration of the rightful division of the Property and ordered that the Appellant be financially responsible for any trustee that would be appointed if necessary to facilitate the sale of the Property. The division of ownership of the Property had been determined. Thus, Court did not err in his decision to order the property sold and the proceeds divided between the parties according to their ownership share.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Consequently, the trial court did not err in determining that res judicata bar Ms. Rita L. Yates' claim of adverse possession of the property in question. Ms. Rita E. Yates never obtained the Property adverse possession. Thus, she was not able to pass the property in fee simple to the Appellant. What she was able to do was to pass all that she owned to the Appellant and that was 1/3 of the 50% of the Property she obtained at the time the property was first conveyed and her intestate portion obtained through her mother Lydia Yates.

Extend time to file a Notice of Appeal of the denial of her reconsideration of the Dismissal of her Complaint for Adverse Possession. The Appellant had ample time to respond to the Motion to Dismiss her complaint and failed to do so even after her counsel was contacted by the judge. She likewise had ample time to file the Notice of Appeal but failed to do so. There is not automatic right to an extension of time for filing and good cause, nor excusable neglect was not shown for Appellant's failure to timely file. Additionally, the issue of adverse possession was moot. Ownership had been finally determined and res judicata correctly barred the Appellant's attempt at one more bite at the apple. Litigation in this case had gone on for over 10 years and the proper division of the property had been determined, the parties were not able or willing to buy one another out, and absent the sale of the Property the other owners would be deprived of their ownership rights. Therefore, the trial court did not err in ordering the sale of this Property.

Based on all of the foregoing, we submit that the lower court's rulings in this case should be affirmed